

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

African American Experiences of Racism When Operating a Small **Business**

Sheliza Thompson Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Developmental Psychology Commons

Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Sheliza Thompson

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Melanie Shores, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Nadine Lukes-Dyer, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

African American Experiences of Racism When Operating a Small Business

by

Sheliza Thompson

MA, Walden University, 2019

BS, Coastal Carolina University, 2013

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Developmental Psychology

Walden University

August 2023

Abstract

The problem addressed in this study was the racism that African Americans experienced when operating a small business. African Americans are more likely to start a business than members of other minority groups. However, African Americans are also less likely to succeed. Low success rates relate to the racial inequities that contribute to systemic racism. The racism that African Americans experience is deeply rooted in societal constructs that have been ingrained for many years. General racism and systemic racism are societal constructs that work against the socioeconomic status of African Americans and their communities. The purpose of this phenomenological study was to explore and understand the racism that African Americans experienced when operating a business. Phenomenological design allowed for obtaining experiences through interviews and written descriptions. Transcendental phenomenology was applied to understand the human experience. The data analysis plan included Moustakas's eight-step process of horizontalizing, reduction of experiences to the invariant constituents, thematic clustering to create core themes, comparison of multiple data sources to validate the invariant constituents, crafting of individual textural descriptions of participants, construction of individual structural descriptions, construction of composite structural descriptions, synthesis of the texture and structure into an expression. Findings indicated themes of microaggression, systemic racism through funding, overcoming challenges, and support from their community. This study may foster positive social change in rejecting systemic racism and creating positive experiences for future African American business owners.

African American Experiences of Racism When Operating a Small Business

by

Sheliza Thompson

MA, Walden University, 2019

BS, Coastal Carolina University, 2013

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Developmental Psychology

Walden University
August 2023

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my mother and my husband, the two most important individuals in my life who have been my pillars of strength and support throughout my academic journey. Thank you, always.

Table of Contents

List of Tablesiv	V
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	l
Background	l
Problem Statement	1
Purpose of the Study	5
Research Question	5
Theoretical/Conceptual Framework	5
Nature of the Study	7
Definitions	7
Assumptions	7
Scope and Delimitations	3
Limitations	3
Significance9)
Summary)
Chapter 2: Literature Review	2
Introduction	2
Literature Search Strategy	3
Theoretical Framework	1
Literature Review Related to Key Variables	5
Microaggressions	5
Systemic Racism	3

	African American Females in the Workplace	20
	Social Support and Community	21
	Debates, Conflicts, and Contradictions	23
	Summary and Conclusions	24
Cł	napter 3: Research Method	25
	Introduction	25
	Research Design and Rationale	26
	Role of the Researcher	26
	Methodology	27
	Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	28
	Instrumentation	29
	Data Analysis Plan	29
	Issues of Trustworthiness	30
	Summary	33
Cł	napter 4: Results	34
	Setting	35
	Demographics	35
	Data Collection	36
	Data Analysis	37
	Evidence of Trustworthiness	38
	Credibility	38
	Transferability	38

Dependability	38
Confirmability	39
Results	39
Emerging Themes Based on Research Question	40
Theme 1: Microaggression	40
Theme 2: Systemic Racism	41
Theme 3: Overcoming Challenges	42
Theme 4: Support and Community	43
Summary	44
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	45
Interpretation of Findings.	45
Limitations of the Study	47
Recommendations	48
Implications for Positive Social Change	49
Conclusion	49
References	51
Appendix A: Flyer	57
Appendix R: Interview Protocol	58

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics of Participants	36
Table 2. Emerging Themes	40

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Racism is still a prevalent issue that African Americans experience in today's society. The issues of racism and discrimination has been ingrained in American societal constructs for years. The cognitive biases and social ideologies of racism have reinforced the opportunities and statuses to White Americans that are, often, denied or limited to African American counterparts (Roberts & Rizzo, 2021). Past studies have provided information regarding African Americans and their experiences in corporate America regarding racial limitations and inequities (Sisco, 2020). However, this study addressed the gap of recent racism that African Americans experience in operating a small business. It, further, addressed the racism and discrimination that are experienced by African American women. This study may bring awareness to the racism that African Americans experience when operating a small business. The study may also bring awareness around the depth of systematic racism and its impact on African Americans, which can contribute to positive social change in providing more equal opportunities at a systematic level. In this chapter, I discuss the study's background, problem statement, purpose, research question, theoretical/conceptual framework, nature, definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and significance.

Background

Racism and discrimination are still prevalent issues that African Americans experience in the workplace. These issues can be in the form of blatant racism that leads to purposeful exclusion from important meetings or even derogatory name calling (Keeler et al., 2020). However, these issues can also present themselves in the form of

microaggressions. The microaggressions can be intentional or unintentional negative stigmas and stereotypes that are directed towards the individual (Keeler et al., 2020).

Racism and discrimination in the workplace stem from systematic racial oppression that has formed throughout the years (Davis et al., 2021). African Americans of small businesses face those same barriers, challenges, and issues stemming from racial oppression. On a gender-based level, African American women have experienced additional stereotypes in workplace environments. African American women are stereotyped as loud, aggressive, angry, hostile, and defensive, which contributes to the microaggressions and inequalities in the workplace (Lanier et al., 2022).

DeCuir-Gunby et al. (2020) indicated findings around racial microaggressions experienced by African Americans in a higher education workplace consisting of microassaults, microinsults, and microinvalidations, as well as the use of coping strategies to mitigate the effects of racial microaggressions. Dickens et al. (2019) indicated major findings around the discrimination experienced in the workplace by African American women based on race and gender as well as the use of identity-shifting to mitigate negative outcomes in the workplace.

Hall et al. (2019) discussed the unequal compensation of African American coworkers due to performance stigmatization that contributes to lower salaries as well as the devaluation of African American employees in the workplace. Keeler et al. (2020) described the unequal treatment of African Americans in the workplace due to discrimination as well as ways to decrease racial discrimination while improving harassment and discrimination training. Mbilishaka (2018) described major findings

around the challenges, barriers, and racial issues that are perceived to affect African American-owned hair salons through storytelling, providing further information on overcoming barriers and becoming an important part of the community in fighting oppression. Noon (2018) noted racism in the workplace due to unconscious bias being deeply ingrained, influencing attitudes and behaviors of unawareness in perceived racism.

Ozturk and Berber (2020) stated major findings around stereotypes in the workplace towards African Americans resulting in misrepresentation in terms of assertiveness being seen as aggressiveness, confidence as arrogance, and ambitions as pushy and annoying. Shrikant and Musselwhite (2019) described the concept of neoliberalism in a Texas commerce setting indicating that racial inequalities no longer exists while promoting the ideology of individualism and racial diversity in professional settings. Spates et al. (2020) described societal expectations, lack of resources, lack of relationships, and limited opportunities in the workplace experienced by African American women due to gendered racism.

Taylor (2018) described the concept of African American businesses within underdeveloped neighborhoods that use the community to build their business and foster connection as well as indicating the difficulty in obtaining capital loans to compete with other ethnic entrepreneurs. Thomas et al. (2018) described the importance of illuminating and unmasking racial inequities in social settings such as the workplace as well as discussing the social and economic inequalities that contribute to systemic racism.

Problem Statement

The problem addressed in this study was the racism that African Americans experience when operating a small business. African Americans are more likely to start a small business than members of other minority groups (Thomas et al., 2018). However, African Americans are also less likely to succeed. Their low success rates in this regard relate to the racial inequities that contribute to systemic racism (Thomas et al., 2018). The racism that African Americans experience is deeply rooted in societal constructs that have been ingrained throughout the years. General racism and systemic racism are societal constructs that work against the socioeconomic status of African Americans and their communities. Over the years, the overt bigotry that African Americans have experienced in terms of physical abuse, mockery, and racial segregation has evolved into a more quiet and indirect form of racism (Sisco, 2020). The quiet and indirect forms of racism can manifest in unintentional and intentional isolation from networking and social events. This leads to lesser opportunities for African Americans.

African Americans who experience racism such as discrimination are less likely to obtain and secure business loans and investments due to systemic racial oppression (Davis et al., 2021). There is a gap in the need to address African American experiences of racism when operating a small business in order to break barriers and advocate for more equal opportunities. Research has been done around conglomerates and systemic racism on a higher level. However, there is a gap concerning systemic racism and its impact on smaller businesses, especially in predominantly Caucasian communities.

Although there have been pivotal changes throughout the years, regarding racism, there is

still a prevalent problem that exists. Understanding the societal problem can facilitate efforts to break societal constructs of systemic racism.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to explore and understand the racism that African Americans experience when operating a small business. African Americans have struggled with racism, discrimination, and oppression throughout history and, to this day, continue to struggle when it comes to issues of racism. This racism is also directed towards African American-owned businesses. Research has been conducted to explore and identify the systematic racial issues that African American business owners experience, in terms of power disparities and unequal treatment in social and economic structures (Davis et al., 2021). Racial barriers have been present in well-established African American-owned businesses throughout generations that have stemmed from oppression, segregation, and discrimination (Thomas et al., 2018).

Implementing racial counter-frames and intersectional counter-frames lends itself to examining systematic racism and African American entrepreneurs. Racial counter-frames and intersectional counter-frames emphasizes the disadvantages that people of color experience while also considering how class and gender intersect with race (Dickens et al., 2019). Such findings indicate that gender, race, and class do affect racism in African American-owned entrepreneurships, especially among women (Spates et al., 2020). Future research should be done to explore the business organization, processes, and environment through gendered, racial, ethnic, and cultural lenses within smaller businesses. This dissertation study was conducted to fill a gap in understanding and

explore recent racism that small African American-owned business owners have experienced, including the advantages and disadvantages of gendered-based businesses.

Research Question

RQ-Qualitative: What are the lived experiences of racism for African Americans when operating a small business?

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

The theoretical framework of this study was based on the critical race theory that, according to McCoy and Rodricks (2015), is attributed to scholars such as Bell, Williams, Delgado, Williams Crenshaw, Phyllis Jones, and Matsuda in response to delayed civil rights movements in the 1970s. Critical race theory is based on the societal construct of the deep-rooted racism that exists. Critical race theory was formulated by scholars such as Derrick Bell, Alan Freeman, and Richard Delgado (Delgado et al., 2017). It includes the concept of internalization of racism and racial oppression as well as the concept of institutional racism through structures, policies, and practices that contribute to disadvantages of minorities. The theory aligned with the overall research in terms of using semistructured interviews in exploring individual experiences of racism in operating and maintaining a business. Critical race theory was helpful in exploring the full impact of racial inequality experienced by African American small business owners (Christian et al., 2019). Chapter 2 will present a more detailed explanation of this framework.

Nature of the Study

This qualitative study was conducted using a phenomenological design focusing on transcendental phenomenology. Transcendental phenomenology involves an effort to understand human experiences without judgement and other biases (Christias, 2018). The study explored the racism that a group of eight African American small business owners experienced within the local community. The sample was chosen from a target population using a purposive sampling approach. The study incorporated open-ended interview questions and in-depth narratives to obtain the participants' lived experiences.

Definitions

Intersectional counter-frames focus on the disadvantages that people of color experience while also considering how class and gender intersect with race (Dickens et al., 2019).

Microaggression is a term that describes verbal, behavioral, and environmental slights and insults targeted to an individual or group (DeCuir-Gunby et al., 2020).

Microaggressions can be presented by assaults, insults, and invalidations.

Systemic racism is based on implicit bias within environmental features where stereotypes and inequalities are experienced by disadvantaged marginalized groups (Payne & Hannay, 2021).

Assumptions

Assumptions that were critical to the meaningfulness of this study included the assumption that multiple realities and perspectives exist in regard to the participants, the researcher, as well as the reader. It was assumed that the transcendental

phenomenological approach allowed for in-depth and complex responses regarding the participants' lived experiences. It was also assumed that participants were able to answer interview questions honestly regarding their individual lived experiences with racism and operating a small business.

Scope and Delimitations

The study focused on the lived experiences of eight African Americans regarding racism when operating a business. The scope of the study focused on racism and systemic racism deep rooted in society that prevent African Americans from acquiring the same opportunities as their counterparts. The study also focused on the aspects of racial barriers that are experienced by African Americans through microaggressions along with aspects of gender-based businesses. Participants' socioeconomic status was not a focus in this study. Although this factor may have been relevant in some aspects of this study, it was not within the main scope of the study. This study also excluded minors as well as other minority groups.

The delimitations of the study were based on the experiences of African Americans, the population included in the study. Other boundaries of this study included a coastal geographic region located in the south. Therefore, the participants were located in a southern coastal region in the United States. The study was also based on local small businesses rather than big conglomerates or franchises.

Limitations

Potential limitations, challenges, and/or barriers included hesitancy and reluctance by the participants in sharing their experience regarding the fear of revealing their identity. However, informed consent was presented to the participants in order to ensure their identifiers and their privacy. Participants were also informed of the voluntary nature of the study and did not need to discuss anything they might have felt uncomfortable disclosing. Other limitations, challenges, and/or barriers may have included concerns around COVID-19 and its impact on African American-owned businesses in a small local community.

Significance

The significance of addressing the purpose of this study involved bringing awareness to the racism that African Americans experience when operating a business. Freedom and opportunities are assumed in an equal society. However, there are deeprooted issues that exist preventing African Americans from having equal opportunities. Racism in operating a business is attributed to the systematic oppression that African Americans face due to social ideologies, practices, and institutions, as well as exploitation of people of color (Davis et al., 2021). The results of this study may facilitate future research in providing information around equal opportunities with no attribution to an individual's skin color.

In facilitating future research and providing information around equal opportunities with no attribution to an individual's skin color, changes in the way individuals think and behave can occur. The development of self-awareness and self-determination in adolescence and young adulthood lends itself to thought and reasoning (Kanbur et al., 2020). In understanding systemic racism and its impact on African Americans, opportunities to work towards positive change and reject prejudices and

attitudes may shape self-awareness and self-determination for future generations to come. This research may also shape the thinking and behavior patterns in youth development in terms of diversity, equity, and inclusion. Doing so may foster potential implications for positive social change in rejecting systemic racism and create positive experiences for future African American business owners.

Summary

This dissertation study was conducted in an attempt to fill a gap in understanding and exploring recent racism that small African American-owned business owners experience, including the advantages and disadvantages of gendered-based businesses. The research contributes to the study of psychology as it addresses the role of race in how individuals think, develop, and behave whilst challenging deep-rooted racism (Roberts et al., 2020). Through this study, I sought to increase awareness around the depth of systematic racism and its impact on African Americans in operating and owning a small business. Stakeholders benefiting from positive results of this study include small business owners, psychology researchers, consumers, suppliers and investors, as well as African American communities. This is because the study brings forth awareness of the struggles of small African American-owned businesses and advocate for change, which may contribute to positive social change in providing more equal opportunities at a systematic level. The study, further, facilitates conversations around diversity, inclusion, and equity in small businesses.

Chapter 2 of this study focuses on the literature review related to racism that

African Americans experience in the workplace environment as well as when operating a

business. It also focuses on gender-based stereotypes along with racial stereotypes that African American women experience in the workplace and business setting. Additionally, Chapter 2 will explore themes of microaggressions, systemic racism, African American females in the workplace, and social support and community.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

The problem addressed in this study involves the racism that African Americans experience when operating a business. The purpose of this study was to explore and understand the racism that African Americans experience when operating a business. African Americans have been continuously experiencing systemic racism that is deeply rooted in societal constructs ingrained throughout the years. This experience contributes unsuccessful rates of operating and maintaining a business (Thomas et al., 2018). While many recent studies have focused on the problem of systemic racism in corporations, few researchers have taken the impact on operating African American-owned businesses into consideration. African Americans who experience racism such as discrimination are less likely to obtain and secure business loans and investments due to systemic racial oppression (Davis et al., 2021). The racism is embedded in the concept of systemic racism that still exists to this day.

Systemic racism is a concept that has been ingrained in societal structures throughout the years and still impacts African Americans. Systemic racism perpetrates the discriminatory outcomes that are experienced by African Americans in a societal and professional manner (Davis et al., 2021). It creates a socioeconomic imbalance, segregated social networks, and a decrease in opportunities. It can be argued that racism and racial inequality do not exist. Often times, the phrase "I don't see color" and denial of racial inequality are still embedded in systemic racism. In order to bring awareness and understanding of racism in the workplace, it is necessary to have difficult discussions and

highlight the lived experiences that African Americans continuously face (Thomas et al., 2018). This literature review explores the racism African Americans experience when operating a business. This study was conducted in an attempt to fill the gap in understanding and exploring recent racism that small African American-owned business owners experience, including the advantages and disadvantages of gendered-based businesses.

Literature Search Strategy

The databases used for this research consisted of SocIndex, APA PsycInfo, Taylor and Francis Online, and Sage Journals. The key terms used for this research were *Black* entrepreneurs, systemic racism, Black small business owners, racism, microaggressions, microaggressions African Americans, lived experiences of Black business owners, critical race theory, racial oppression, small business or small firms or small enterprises or small companies or SMEs or SME, racism or prejudice or racial bias or racial discrimination, and disparities or disparity or inequality or bias or disproportionality. Research articles that contributed to this study were, predominantly, published within the past 5 years. Based on the search of these terms, it was found that racism and discrimination are still prevalent issues that African Americans experience in the workplace. These issues can be in the form of blatant racism that leads to purposeful exclusion from important meetings or even derogatory name calling. However, these issues can also present themselves in the form of microaggressions. The microaggressions can be intentional or unintentional negative stigmas and stereotypes that are directed towards the individual.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework of this study was based on critical race theory. The theory aligned with the overall research in terms of using its storytelling and narrative approach in exploring individual experiences of racism in operating and maintaining a business. Critical race theory contributed in exploring the full impact of racial inequality experienced by African American small business owners (Christian et al., 2019). The phenomenological study provided information on the lived experiences of the participants who had encountered the phenomena of racism.

Critical race theory leans on the cultural and societal construct of racism that is ingrained in American history, which is still an issue to this day. The theory emphasizes race consciousness and identity, radial power, and modes of race, gender, and ethnic intersectionality (Crenshaw, 1995). Microaggressions can be explained with critical race theory as it is based on deep-seated racial exclusion leading to harm and insult.

Critical race theory connects racism in the workplace in terms of racially abusive slurs and language. It does so by highlighting the normalization of such behavior and acts in the workplace deeply rooted in systemic racism (Bohonos, 2021). Bohonos (2017) discussed the connection between critical race theory and racism in terms of benefiting White individuals in the workplace in creating a ritual bond. For example, racial jokes and slurs in the workplace may seem inconsequential to one group. However, they do significant psychological and emotional damage to another group. Bohonos discussed the normalization of such language that creates an unsafe environment for African

Americans in the workplace, which also contributes to stereotyping and stigmatization of African American workers.

Critical race theory provides a perspective on the racial phenomena that exist in societal norms and expectations (Christian et al., 2019). Christian et al. (2019) discussed the use of narrative storytelling in order to understand the extent of racial oppression experienced by African Americans. Christian et al. (2019) highlights the "racial ignorance," inequality, and skepticism around racial inequality. Christian et al. (2019) further discussed how racism is based on institutionalized White privileges, societal norms, and racialized hierarchies. Christian et al. (2019) also described how certain actions may be perceived as harmless in the workplace but are dehumanizing to African American workers.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables

After an exhaustive review of the current literature related to this study, it was deduced that there is a gap in the literature regarding the racism that African Americans experience when operating a small business. Researchers in related disciplines have approached the problems, strengths, and weaknesses inherent in their approaches in similar topics related to this study. The key variables discussed in this chapter consist of microaggressions, systemic racism, African American females in the workplace, social support and community, as well as debates, conflicts, and contradictions.

Microaggressions

Racial barriers have been present in well-established African American-owned businesses throughout generations that stemmed from oppression, segregation, and

discrimination (Thomas et al., 2018). Such racial barriers are also seen in the workplace that present themselves in forms of microaggressions. Microaggressions in the workplace may consists of microassaults, microinsults, and microinvalidations (DeCuir-Gunby et al., 2020). DeCuir-Gunby et al. (2020) discussed such microaggressions leading to feelings of inadequacy and lack of inclusivity. DeCuir-Gunby et al. (2020) further discussed the subtle exchanges of verbal, nonverbal, and environmental actions that are experienced by African Americans in the workplace. The microaggressions can be intentional or unintentional negative stigmas and stereotypes that are directed towards the individual (Keeler et al., 2020).

Examples of such microaggressions involve physical appearance and what is considered "proper" hairstyles of African Americans in a workplace environment. Many natural hairstyles are considered inappropriate in the workplace, leading African Americans to go through damaging processes to have their hair fit the status quo of the workplace (Mbilishaka, 2018). Mbilishaka (2018) discussed the internalization of racism that limits African Americans' emotional and self-expressive well-being in order to fit a narrative that has been created in the American workplace culture. Such microaggressions and modern racism have instilled a psychological and emotional toll on African Americans.

African Americans have also experienced microaggressions in forms of misrepresentations involving stereotypes of being aggressive, loud, pushy, and arrogant (Ozturk & Berber, 2020). These stereotypes are misinterpretations of traits of assertiveness, confidence, and ambition. Many times, when complaints against

microaggressions are stated, the complaints go unanswered or present themselves in overreactions and group meetings where not much is solved in the end. Ozturk and Berber (2020) discussed experiences of microaggressions in forms of bullying and harassment, denial of opportunities in recruitment and selection, training and development, network access and promotion processes, and lower performance ratings, pay, and other rewards. Such factors also contribute to racial barriers when starting and operating a business. Lack of network access prohibits opportunities in promoting one's business as well as obtaining the necessities to operate and maintain the business.

African Americans still experience such barriers when it comes to fighting the oppression in the workplace. The microaggressions stem from an unconscious bias that is deeply ingrained in societal structures that have developed through years of oppression and inequalities (Hall et al., 2019). Because of this, there is an underlying sense of devaluation among African American workers in the workplace. Hall et al. (2019) discussed how such stigmas and negative connotations lead to African Americans being perceived as being of lower worth and less deserving than their equal counterparts, thus perpetuating the ostracization and marginalization of African American employees.

African Americans also experience microaggressions in the workplace due to their names. African American applicants who do not have "White-sounding" names are often less favorable even with perfect credentials and experiences (Whitaker, 2019). Whitaker (2019) further discussed the negative implications that African American names are associated with, which provide academic, professional, social, and cultural disadvantages. Whitaker (2019) also discussed the conformity and comfortability of

employers who seek employees who share a commonality. This form of microaggression and unconscious bias results from years of negative implications within the African American community.

Systemic Racism and Funding

Microaggressions in the workplace continue to reinforce the concept of systemic racism and the role it plays in racism among African Americans (Skinner-Dorkenoo et al., 2021). Skinner-Dorkenoo et al. (2021) discussed the concept of false colorblindness, denial of racism, and promoting these ideas to reinforce and maintain systemic racism in the workplace. Microaggression, as previously stated, can be unintentional or intentional. However, it does cause some sense of harm towards the targeted audience. Skinner-Dorkenoo et al. (2021) addressed efforts to protect the system of racial oppression as well as establish White superiority. Skinner-Dorkenoo et al. (2021) further discussed how the denial of the existence of racial inequality lends itself to the notion that African Americans' lived experiences of social injustice are invalid and unfounded.

Systemic racism deeply impacts African American business owners, as they report lower levels of financial capital compared to paid employees (Bento & Brown, 2021). Bento and Brown (2021) noted that, due to systemic racism, African Americans may not generate as much wealth as their counterparts. Bento and Brown (2021) further discussed systemic racism in terms of undermining African American economic mobility. Low levels of assets and lack of financial funding or loans lead to fewer chances of starting and maintaining businesses. Compared to other minorities, African Americans

tend to experience the lowest self-employment rates due to systemic racism and its disadvantages (Bento & Brown, 2021).

Another form of systemic racism is the concept of implicit bias. Implicit bias refers to the mental associations already established for certain social groups (Payne & Hannay, 2021). Payne and Hannay (2021) discussed how implicit bias is a cognitive reflection of systemic racism. Payne and Hannay (2021) also described that such implicit bias tends to result in discriminatory behavior and prejudiced comments and beliefs in the workplace. Payne and Hannay (2021) further discussed the need for more visible representation in positions of power in order to combat illicit bias. In order to motivate change in terms of systemic racism, it is important to revise policy and procedures that are aligned with the disadvantages and racism that exist.

Systemic racism is still a prevalent issue today. According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, White males makes up 84% of management positions and 88% of chief executive positions (Adejumo, 2021). Adejumo (2021) stated that African Americans accounted for .08% of Fortune 500 chief executive officers and 3.2% of senior-level executive positions. Adejumo (2021) discussed the underrepresentation of African Americans within management positions. Adejumo (2021) further addressed the internalized belief and practice of African American that they must work harder than their counterparts in order to advance within their organization. Adejumo (2021) discussed the feelings of inauthenticness that are experienced by African Americans in the workplace in order to identity shift into a personality suitable for the workplace.

African American Females in the Workplace

African American women are more likely to experience disadvantages in the workplace than African American men due to multiple adversities and disparities in the form of gendered racism (Spates et al., 2020). Spates et al. (2020) discussed the lack of resources and opportunities as well as societal expectations that are perceived towards African American women. African American women may experience racism as well as sexism in the workplace. Spates et al. (2020) discussed the pressure African American women experience to play the role of a strong African American women as well as provide for a family. Spates et al. (2020) depicted the challenges that African American women experience as "double trouble" in terms of being African American and female.

Spates et al. (2020) further highlighted the education and credentials factors of African American women in the workplace. African American women may have the same or better credentials as their counterparts but are often less likely to be considered for promotions (Spates et al., 2020). Because of workplace mistreatment, a lack of opportunities and networking events hinders African American women's professional growth. As previously discussed, microaggressions manifests themselves in forms of bullying and harassment; denial of opportunities in recruitment, selection, training, and development; disadvantages in network access and promotion processes; and lower performance ratings, pay, and other rewards (Ozturk & Berber, 2020).

In order to minimize or neutralize such microaggressions, African American women will go through identity shifting in the workplace. Identity shifting occurs when the individual modifies their appearance, language, and mannerisms in order to negate

cultural assumptions and stereotypical expectations (Dickens et al., 2019). Dickens et al. (2019) discussed how African American women who are hyper visible in the workplace will identity shift to manage their behaviors in terms of negative perceptions conceived by coworkers. This also allows African American women to assimilate into the dominant workplace culture. Dickens et al. noted that even with credentials and knowledge in their field, Black women are often questioned about their expertise as well as their competence.

Even when African American women are depicted as successful businesswomen and business owners, there still is an underlying challenge and misconception concerning how they maintain and operate their business. Trying to obtain a business loan in and of itself can be a challenge in terms of discrimination (Jackson, 2021). Jackson (2021) discussed the financial hardships and unequal financial opportunities that exist for African Americans, especially African American women, in trying to start their own businesses and maintain those businesses. Because of this, their own personal money becomes invested in their business. In order to obtain social capital and support, African American women tend to support networks of like-minded individuals such as other African American women business owners. Such networking events give these women a space to obtain resources and support where, otherwise, it might be difficult to obtain (Jackson, 2021).

Social Support and Community

As previously stated, it can be difficult for African Americans to obtain loans to start up businesses due to discrimination and racism. Therefore, they invest their personal

savings and money into their business. If they do not have the means or money to start a business, they may borrow money from family and friends and then use that seed money in order to obtain a lender (Taylor, 2018). Taylor (2018) discussed the importance of business development linked to community development where small African American-owned businesses are supported by their communities to produce profits and reinforce their culture. Opening a business within the community also helps to strengthen social networks. Taylor (2018) acknowledged that possibility and hope of reversing underdeveloped communities through business ventures within the community.

With restricted access to employment alternatives, small businesses within the community have more chances to develop rather than opening a business in a predominantly White community (Bates et al., 2021). Bates (2021) discussed the restricted access to mainstream markets that have restrained the growth and scope of African American owned businesses. Bates (2021) also highlighted the inability to sustain growth if individuals lack access to financing. Therefore, community resources, supports, and funding are essential to operating a small business in order to sustain that business.

The oppression in the United States economy is still prevalent in this day and age as well as racial wealth disparities (Clarke, 2021). Clarke (2021) discussed communal uplift in African American communities in order to obtain entrepreneurialism within the community to foster development and racial unity. Clarke (2021), further, focuses on the achievements in entrepreneurship despite the unequal position of a "free market" that are experienced by African Americans. Clarke (2021) discussed the resilience and resistance

that it takes for African Americans to maintain a business despite their disadvantages and pushback from their counterparts.

Social support may also manifest itself in forms of mentorship. Mentorship programs offer support in overcoming biases, career-advancing benefits, as well as advocacy (Randel et al., 2021). Such efforts of mentorship challenge racial stereotypes allowing African Americans advance their potential. Randel et al. (2021), further, discussed the psychosocial elements of mentorships in which provides workplace and career satisfaction.

Debates, Conflicts, and Contradictions

Although there is still deep-rooted systemic racism and microaggressions in the workplace experienced by African Americans, there are success stories that may contradict such findings. Despite racial barriers and limitations, African Americans have overcome such circumstances leading to highly achieved professionals in cooperate America (Sisco, 2020). Sisco (2020) discussed the concept of African Americans working twice as hard than their counterparts in order to climb the cooperate ladder. Sisco (2020), further, discussed the emotional and psychological trauma as well as burnout and exhaustion that comes with the success African American experience. Maintaining a sense of resiliency and competitive mindset contributed to the success stories.

Contradictions to racial barriers experienced by African Americans in the workplace also lends itself to the concept of neoliberal ideology. This ideology contributes to the idea that racial inequality does not exist and focuses more on

individualism (Shrikant and Musselwhite, 2019). Shrikant and Musselwhite (2019) discussed the concept that racial inequalities do not exist and, therefore, providing monetary funding to minorities simply because they are minorities is a disadvantage and not viable for support. Shrikant and Musselwhite (2019), further, contradicted the racial barriers experienced by African Americans by discussing that racial diversity already exists in business communities. Shrikant and Musselwhite (2019) also debated that government funding provides unfair advantages towards racial minorities and such unfair advantages contributes to discrimination against White individuals (Shrikant and Musselwhite, 2019).

Summary and Conclusions

This study attempts to fill the gap in understanding and exploring recent racism that small African American -owned business owners experience, including the advantages and disadvantages of gendered-based businesses. The research contributes to the study of psychology as it factors into the role of race in how individuals think, develop, and behave whilst challenging deep rooted racism (Roberts et al., 2020). In order to create social changes, it is important to discuss topics that may be difficult to have conversations around. However, contributing to "colorblindness" and neoliberal ideologies in notions of the nonexistence of inequality also contributes to the problem of racism and inherent systemic racism that still exists. As chapter 2 focused on literature review and key terms, chapter 3 will focus on research design, role of the researcher, methodology, instrumentation, issues of trustworthiness, and ethical procedures.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to explore and understand the racism that African Americans experience when operating a business. African Americans have struggled with racism, discrimination, and oppression throughout history and, to this day, continue to struggle when it comes to issues of racism. That racism is also directed towards African American-owned businesses. Research has been conducted to explore and identify the systematic racial issues that African American business owners experience, in terms of power disparities and unequal treatment in social and economic structures (Davis et al., 2021). Racial barriers have been present for well-established African American-owned businesses throughout generations that have stemmed from oppression, segregation, and discrimination (Thomas et al., 2018).

Implementing racial counter-frames and intersectional counter-frames lends itself to examining systematic racism and African American entrepreneurs. Racial counter-frames and intersectional counter-frames emphasize the disadvantages people of color experience while also considering how class and gender intersect with race (Dickens et al., 2019). Such findings indicate that gender, race, and class do affect racism concerning African American-owned entrepreneurships, especially among women (Spates et al., 2020). Future research should be done to explore the business organization, processes, and environment through gendered, racial, ethnic, and cultural lenses within smaller businesses. Through this dissertation study, I attempted to fill the gap in understanding

and exploring recent racism that small African American-owned business owners experienced, including the advantages and disadvantages of gendered-based businesses.

Research Design and Rationale

The research question was as follows: What are the lived experiences of racism for African Americans when operating a small business?

The qualitative study was conducted using a phenomenological design.

Phenomenological research focuses on the lived meaning of an experience and how others communicate about their experience (Adams & van Manen, 2017). In connection, the research question of this study allowed the participants to share their personal lived experiences in relation to the central concept. Phenomenological design also allowed for obtaining experiences through interviews and written descriptions (Adams & van Manen, 2017).

Phenomenology allows for generating new knowledge from lived experiences (Moustakas, 1994). This design worked well with this study, which incorporated openended interview questions to obtain the participants' lived experiences. Through a phenomenological study, I attempted to explore the racism that a group of eight African American small business owners experienced within the local community. The sample was chosen from a target population using a purposive sampling approach.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher included interviewing and listening to individuals' experiences of racism when operating a business through storytelling and narratives, which incorporated open-ended interview questions. My role as the researcher was to be

an objective instrument that offered participants the ability to give voice to their racismrelated experiences. It was important to recognize any biases that might occur that might
impact the research. Therefore, the selection of participants was not based on professional
and personal relationships. As I had no professional or personal relationships with
participants, there should be little to no issues with conflict of interest within the research.
Any researcher bias was managed through bracketing. Using bracketing, I sought to
manage my personal experience and biases as the researcher while allowing a focus
solely on the topic and question of the research (Moustakas, 1994).

Methodology

This qualitative study was conducted using a phenomenological design. The phenomenological study provided information on the lived experiences of participants who had encountered the phenomena of racism. Transcendental phenomenology was used in this research methodology (Husserl, 1931). This phenomenological concept derives from the work of Edmund Husserl, who sought to understand human experiences (Moustakas, 1994). This phenomenology focuses on the experiences of the participants while using bracketing to minimize personal bias.

Researchers set aside their own bias in order to highlight participants' personal experiences towards a phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994). Transcendental phenomenology focuses on facts and real experiences while letting go of the researcher's ego. Husserl (1931) described the term *epoche* in transcendental phenomenology to describe the reduction of judgment and bias around the true nature of reality. Through this research, I

sought to understand African Americans' lived experiences of racism when operating a small business.

This qualitative study was an attempt to explore the racism that a group of eight African American small business owners experienced within the local community. Therefore, criteria for participant selection specified that participants must identify as African American. Participants also needed to own a small business, as I sought to understand the racism that African American small business owners experience. Another participant criterion indicated that participants needed to be individuals 18 years or older. The sample was chosen from a target population using a purposive sampling approach. The study incorporated open-ended interview questions and in-depth narratives to obtain the participants' lived experiences. Recruitment was conducted through phone calls and emails in which I introduced myself as the researcher as well as the purpose of the research. Once participants were agreeable to the interview and research, informed consent was reviewed.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Participants in this study included eight African American adults who owned small businesses in the local community. Recruitment procedures involved posting information about the study on online sites where potential participants would see it and then establish contact. Appendix A contains the flyer for the study containing information about the study and how to establish contact. An informed consent form was emailed to participants to explain any risks and benefits of the study. Interviews were conducted

lasting about 60 minutes. Interviews were recorded and then transcribed for data collection. The interview protocol can be found in Appendix B.

Instrumentation

The basis for literature development were through interviews. Data for this study included interviews and narratives with eight African American small business owners within a local community who were current business owners.. Interviews allowed the participants to answer open-ended questions that enabled a discussion format. Overall, participants were based on current business owners in obtaining narratives and lived experiences from various perspectives in terms of racism. Recordings were used in order to collect the data. I obtained consent forms from the participants for the interviews and the use of recordings.

Data Analysis Plan

The source of the data for addressing the research question were interviews. The interviews were recorded and transcribed using software that creates a written transcription. Data analysis also included Moustakas's (1994) process. I used the process of horizontalizing the data for relevant statements. Horizontalizing the data involves placing equal value on each piece of data (Moustakas, 1994). Reduction of experiences to the invariant constituents includes eliminating any overlapping of repetitive themes. I employed thematic clustering to create core themes of the lived experience. Comparison of multiple data sources to validate the invariant constituents verified the accuracy of data sources (Moustakas, 1994). Constructing individual textural descriptions of participants involved the development of narrative explanations of the lived experiences.

Construction of individual structural descriptions consisted of creating structures that derived from imaginative variation. Construction of composite structural descriptions helps a researcher to understand lived experiences in explaining how the experiences occurred. Last, synthesizing the texture and structure into an expression consisted of a reflective study of the phenomena (Moustakas, 1994).

Issues of Trustworthiness

In order to combat issues of trustworthiness to ensure credibility and validity of the research and data collection, researcher utilized peer debriefing. Peer debriefing ensures accurate representation without biases from a neutral party. Researcher will also utilize the use of reflexive journaling. This accounts for the researcher's opinions and personal notes in the research process, which helps with transferability. Thick descriptions also helped with transferability in order to establish empathetic understanding and heightening trustworthiness (Sankofa, 2022). Lived experiences from interviews were used in order to develop a comprehensive understanding of the phenomena (Fusch et al., 2018). In order to maintain confirmability, reflexivity in using reflexive journaling was utilized. Reflexive journaling utilizes the researcher's thoughts, values, and opinions.

Credibility

Peer debriefing was used for credibility. Peer debriefing allows for an unbiased perspective from a qualified peer to ensure validity and credibility in the research.

Qualified peers will look at transcripts, general methodology, and final report to, further, ensure credibility.

Transferability

For transferability, thick description was used in the research in order for the results to be transferred to other contexts and respondents (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Thick descriptions allow for the behavior and experiences, of the participants, to become meaningful. Thus, establishing trustworthiness and empathy.

Dependability

Dependability in the research included audit trails. Audit trails help the transparency of the research. Audit trails uses an auditor to study the research's transparency. The auditor are the notes on research process decisions, reflective thoughts, sampling, research materials adopted, findings, and data management (Korstjens & Moser, 2018).

Confirmability

Reflexive journaling was used for confirmability in the research. Using reflexivity in reflexive journaling allows for self-awareness of the researcher. Utilizing reflexive journaling includes researcher's notes on the processing of data and researcher's subjective response (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Reflexive journaling allows for the reduction and elimination of any potential biases.

Ethical Procedures

Potential limitations, challenges, and/or barriers may include hesitancy and reluctance in sharing their experience regarding the fear of revealing their identity. However, informed consent was presented to the participants in order to ensure their identifiers and their privacy. Participants were informed of the voluntary nature of the

study and will not discuss anything they may feel uncomfortable of disclosing. Other limitations, challenges, and/or barriers may include concerns around COVID-19 and its impact on African American -owned businesses in a local coastal community of South Carolina.

In order to maintain reliability and validity for instrumentation and interview questions, consistency in interview questions was maintained. Each participant had the same set of questions where they could give open-ended answers. With open-ended answers, probing techniques can be used to obtain more information. Maintaining reliability and validity of instrumentation and interview questions was also based on the consent form. The consent form established privacy protection with the knowledge that the participant's identifiers would not be shared. This ensured validity and reliability within the interview answers. Volunteering and data collection was anonymous to prevent any identifiers.

In addition to identifiers that were not be shared within the research, identifiers will also be stored separately from the coded data. Any form of identifier has been masked with a general variable of the participant's demographic description. I was responsible and took precautions to ensure the safety of the device that I used to store data. The device has one password to access data and a screen lock to further ensure safety. I own the device and I will be in sole control of the device. The data will be stored in a secured manner for 5 years or as otherwise indicated by the Institutional Review Board (IRB). The data will then be destroyed by clearing, overwriting, or purging.

Summary

As stated, the purpose of this study was to explore and understand the racism that African Americans experience when operating a business. Chapter 3 addressed the research method along with research design and rationale. The chapter focused on transcendental phenomenology and the role of the researcher. Chapter 3 also addressed the ethical guidelines and procedures that were used in order to protect the validity and credibility of the research. The chapter focused on the source of the data, which derived from interviews. The data were transcribed and categorized into themes. Chapter 4 focused on the settings and demographics of the study.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this study was to explore and understand the racism that African Americans experience when operating a business. Racism has been an ongoing issue in society for many years. Racial discrimination can be experienced in many forms, including business practices. Many African Americans have reported facing racism in access to funding, loans and contracts, as well as customer interactions and marketing opportunities. This dissertation study was an attempt to fill the gap in understanding and exploring recent racism that owners of small African American-owned businesses experience.

Eight African American small business owners in the local area volunteered to share their experiences of racism when operating a business. Data were gathered through conducting interviews in order to obtain the participants' own unique experiences of being an African American business owner. These experiences may have had significant impact on the success and growth of their businesses, as well as their mental and emotional well-being.

The interviews focused on the research question: What are the lived experiences of racism for African Americans when operating a small business?

In Chapter 4, I discuss settings, demographics, data collection, data analysis, and evidence of trustworthiness. This chapter also provides themes and subthemes regarding African American experiences.

Setting

In order to obtain participants, I utilized Facebook groups created for small businesses in the area as well as African American-owned businesses in the area. After posting the flyer for the research, I received eight responses from individuals who were willing to participate. I then emailed the consent form to each willing participant. After participants replied to the email with "I consent," we were able to set up a timeframe to conduct the interviews. Interviews were done using phones, as many participants were more comfortable speaking over the phone rather than completing in-person interviews. Utilizing the phone was also an issue of convenience for many participants. One interview was done in person in the participant's office to maintain confidentiality. I used the Rev application through the Apple Store on an iPhone to record the interview. Interviews were conducted in the morning, at midday, or in the afternoon, depending on when the participant was available. There were no known personal or organizational conditions that may have influenced participants or their experiences at the time of the study, nor any outcome of interpretation.

Demographics

Participants included eight African Americans. Each participant owned a small business in the local area, with these businesses ranging from private practices to beauty shops. All participants were over the age of 18. Participants had also established their businesses for over 2 years.

 Table 1

 Demographics of Participants

Participant	Years in business	Type of business
P1	3	Beauty shop
P2	22	Wedding decorator
Р3	5	Mental health facility
P4	7	Nonprofit
P5	5	Trucking company
P6	5	Party rentals
P7	6	Mental health facility
P8	3	Fashion

Data Collection

Through data collection, I aimed to shed light on the experiences, challenges, and successes of eight African American small business owners. By gathering information through interviews, I sought to understand the unique perspectives and lived experiences that African American entrepreneurs have contributed to today's business landscape. After flyers were posted to online forums such as Facebook groups targeting African American small business owners in the local area, consent forms were emailed, and interviews were set up through phone calls (with an in-person interview being optional). Interviews consisted of questions where each participant was provided the same set of questions in order to obtain reliability and credibility. The interviews were scheduled to

last within a 60-minute timeframe. Interviews were recorded through the Rev app on an iPhone, which was protected via password and/or face detection. Interviews were then transcribed using the Rev app and uploaded to NVivo in order to organize the data collected. Themes and subthemes were also identified with the utilization of NVivo.

Data Analysis

Qualitative data analysis was done through utilization of NVivo in order to identify similar themes throughout the interviews. I reviewed the transcribed interviews several times in order to check for accuracy. I also utilized Moustakas's (1994) process to analyze this phenomenological study. I used the horizontalizing process in order to identify common themes and patterns that uncovered shared experiences of racism experienced by African American small business owners. Transcribed interviews were also reviewed multiple times to identify significant statements, phrases, or ideas related to experiences of racism. Statements were then organized into groups based on commonalities to create potential themes. I was then able to develop overarching themes that encapsulate the essence of participants' experiences. Emerging themes included microaggressions, systemic racism, overcoming challenges, and support from community. The findings of this study provide valuable insights into the lived experiences of African American business owners, highlighting the persistence of racism and the resilience demonstrated by these individuals in their pursuit of success.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

Peer debriefing was used to ensure credibility and validity. For this purpose, I utilized colleagues who had no interest in my research. However, these colleagues had experience with their own research. Therefore, they were able to offer clear and concise feedback. Utilizing peer debriefing allowed for the elimination of any biases or assumptions that may have been evident. My colleagues were able to look over the overall research, methodology, transcriptions, and findings. Along with peer debriefing, participants were emailed transcripts from their own interviews in order to confirm accuracy and provide clarification.

Transferability

Thick descriptions were used in this research in order to increase transferability of the research findings to other contexts. Using thick descriptions allowed me to encompass explicit incidents of racism that African Americans experience but also nuanced ways in which it affects their daily lives. Through the lens of transferability and thick descriptions, the lived experiences of these eight participants can be a catalyst for change. By disseminating their narratives, I hope to help policymakers, academics, and society as a whole develop a heightened awareness of the systemic racism that hinders the success and growth of African American small businesses.

Dependability

I utilized audit trails in order to outline the research process, including data collection, data analysis, and interpretation, to ensure transparency, rigor, and credibility

in the research findings. By documenting the research journey, the audit trails aimed to enhance the trustworthiness and replicability of the study, thereby contributing to the broader understanding of racism and its impact on African American small business owners.

Confirmability

Research journaling was used to document my own biases and preconceptions throughout the research process. This allowed for transparency and self-reflection, which then prevented biases or influences in the interpretation of data. I was also able to seek out feedback from participants to help validate the accuracy of the analysis by providing them with a copy of their transcribed interview. Taking such measures allowed for the ability to establish and maintain objectivity and neutrality throughout the research process.

Results

The experiences of racism faced by African American small business owners revealed several recurring themes of microaggressions, systemic racism through limitation of capital funds, overcoming challenges, and the importance of support and community. I found that a topic that was not a recurring theme was the disadvantages of African American females in the workplace. However, despite the adversities African Americans encounter, these small business owners continue to persevere, demonstrating resilience and inspiring others to break down barriers and achieve success. Their experiences serve as a testament to the strength of the human spirit and the power of unity in the face of discrimination.

Table 2

Emerging Themes

	Themes
Experiences of racism when operating a small business	Microaggression
sman business	Funding
	Overcoming challenges
	Support and community

Emerging Themes Based on Research Question

Theme 1: Microaggression

Microaggressions can manifest in various ways, such as racially biased or motivated comments, stereotypes, or exclusionary behavior. The constant need to navigate microaggressions can be draining, making it much more difficult to focus on running a successful business.

P2 shared,

When you show up you get, there's kind of a, not necessarily a tension. But you get a feeling that the way they view you is you can't do what you need to do for them because you don't look the part. That's what I run across a lot often. They don't do it blatantly, but you can tell they look at you funny.

P3 shared.

Well, my name is P3, and when they see the credentials and they talk to me on the phone, they assume it's a Caucasian female, until I come down that hallway and

take that right by that corner. And they see I am African American, a Black female, and they'll ask me, "Are you Dr. P3? I'm here to see P3" I'm like, "Yeah, that's me." You know what I mean? Or even nonverbally, you kind of see their expression.

P7 shared,

Sometimes I get treated less than you can tell that people talk down to me or don't feel that I'm their equal. Um, I don't know about specific events other than I feel that I've noticed walking away after that I felt treated less than because of my color.

P8 shared,

I guess sometimes clients or customers, when they come into the store and, sometimes, I design custom pieces for them and they come in and they want something and I feel like they don't value my work and the price that I put on my work. I feel if it was someone who was White who was selling the item to them, they would have no problem paying for it, but I feel like they tend to try to lowball me on prices and I feel like it's due to my race.

Theme 2: Systemic Racism

Systemic racism has historically made it more difficult for minority entrepreneurs to secure loans and investments. As a result, African American entrepreneurs find themselves having to be resourceful in seeking alternative funding options, such as grants, crowdfunding, or community support. The following are experiences of participants in obtaining loans or capital funds referring to systemic racism:

P4 shared,

Applying for grants and different funding, a lot of those, well, most of them, I didn't really receive any type of monetary support. I was connected to someone that worked for a local company, which was a plumbing company in the area, and they gave a cash donation of \$250. But it was just kind of hard-to-get funding, whether I was soliciting or fundraising or applying for grants and foundations.

P6 shared,

It was really hard for me to get a loan and a business license. The process was longer than what needed it to be and I had a good plan set up and I got denied a couple times, but I kept trying.

P8 shared,

Well, I guess I would say when I was looking to get a loan to finance my business, I found that I was getting denied a lot. When I talked to other people, they didn't seem to have the same issue. If they match the criteria, it was very streamlined, but for me, it was a lot more difficult.

Theme 3: Overcoming Challenges

Despite challenges faced, African American small business owners have shown resilience and determination in overcoming obstacles. A commonality with participants in this study was the refusal to let racism define their success and working diligently to prove their worth in the business world. Through hard work, innovative strategies, and a commitment to their craft, they were able to push past barriers and achieve their accomplishments.

P3 shared,

I would say Chamber has definitely helped me a lot as far as connecting and networking with people. There are people I would not have met or known or had the opportunity to work with if it wasn't for Chamber and that connection. So, I guess when we talk about being a connector, I love talking to people. I love connecting.

P5 shared,

The world, unfortunately, is very daunting at times. And a lot of people, when they face different obstacles, they give up. They give up because they don't see the light at the end of the tunnel and some lose their way. If it's going to be something that you are interested in doing, and you're very earnest about getting your business up off the ground and promoting yourself and promoting your business, and just making the business work for you, you've got to stay with it.

P7 shared, "Don't let fear stop you. You have the power to control your destiny. If you are passionate about something, you can achieve your dream."

Theme 4: Support and Community

Another theme that emerged was based on support and community to uplift and create a sense of unity and empowerment. This, then, strengthens African American small business owners' resilience and fosters a supportive environment.

P7 shared,

We all join together to support each other and then we also can bounce ideas off each other. So, if one of us is feeling like we're lacking in certain cultures or diversity, we can share our experiences or ask for help.

Summary

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore and understand the lived experiences or racism that African Americans face when operating a business. In Chapter 4, I discussed the settings, demographics, data collection, data analysis, and evidence of trustworthiness. Emerging themes were also generated in this chapter in order to highlight the challenges of systemic racism, microaggressions, overcoming challenges, and leaning on community support. Chapter 5 will focus on the interpretation of the research findings, limitations of the study, recommendations, implications of the study, and the overall conclusion of the study.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

This qualitative phenomenological study was conducted in order to obtain understanding and insight on the lived experiences of racism that African Americans face while operating their small businesses. Racism is a deeply ingrained issue that permeates various aspects of society, including the world of business. Despite significant progress in racial equality, these small business owners still face unique challenges and barriers due to their race, which may lead to detrimental effects of being self-defeated and much more. This study was grounded in critical race theory to provide a lens in order to understand the structural inequalities that perpetuate injustices experienced by African American small business owners.

These challenges are deep rooted in historical and cultural disparities, anti-Black stereotypes, and identity-based differences (Roberson, 2023). This study examined the experiences of African American small business owners through the lens of developmental psychology in order to gain a deeper understanding of the detrimental effects of racism and the potential avenues for change. Constant exposure to racism can shape identity formation and perception of self, as well as influencing future choices and opportunities. Key findings in this study resulted in themes of microaggression, systemic racism, support and community, and overcoming challenges.

Interpretation of Findings

In the context of microaggressions and systemic racism, findings of this study indicated that owning a small business can be a powerful act of resilience and resistance for African Americans. It serves as a platform to overcome challenges and navigate the

racist environments that they have encountered. Microaggressions experienced by African American small business owners aligned with previous studies of intentional or unintentional negative stigmas and stereotypes that result in lack of inclusivity and feelings of inadequacy (DeCuir-Gundy at al., 2020; Keeler at al., 2020). For example, almost all participants of this study revealed that microaggressions were a common occurrence and that they often experienced unintentional acts or comments that conveyed racist attitudes and assumptions. The prevalence of microaggressions in subtle forms of racism and bias resulted in a negative impact on participants' well-being and business success.

Systemic racism experienced by participants aligned with previous findings that African Americans, who experience racial disparities such as discrimination, are less likely to obtain and secure business loans and investments due to systemic racial oppression (Davis et al., 2021). A majority of the participants shared their experiences regarding difficulty in obtaining financial loans and investments in order to sustain or even start up their business. For example, P4 shared their experience where they were completely unable to receive any monetary funds to sustain their nonprofit. P8 also shared their experience of constant denial when applying for business loans when starting their small business. Limited access to capital hampers the growth and sustainability of African American-owned businesses, hindering their ability to compete and thrive.

Overcoming challenges was another theme aligned with previous findings.

Despite challenges and obstacles of racism when operating a business, some participants have demonstrated remarkable resilience, determination, and innovation in overcoming

racism and achieving success. These participants have done so through building partnerships and alliances. Some African Americans business owners offset these challenges by joining affiliations and giving back to the community (Jackson, 2021). For example, P3 discussed utilizing the Chamber, referring to the Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Council, to help overcome the challenges she has experienced when operating her business.

Support and community experienced by participants aligned with previous findings indicating that community resources, supports, and funding are essential to operating a small business in order to sustain that business and the importance of business development linked to community development where small African American-owned businesses are supported by their communities to produce profits and reinforce their culture (Bates, 2021; Taylor, 2018). For example, P7 discussed getting together with her colleagues and coworkers in order to foster conversations around their own challenges and offering support of each other. These experiences foster a sense of support and community to create safe spaces, build networks, and provide employment opportunities that uplift their communities. In the face of microaggressions, systemic racism, and challenges, participants developed a sense of resilience and resistance to overcome barriers and create economic opportunities while fostering supportive communities to dismantle racism and create a more equitable society.

Limitations of the Study

This study focused on the lived experiences of racism that African Americans face in the local area while operating their small business. However, a few limitations

occurred during this study. One limitation of this study was the limited number of participants, which could restrict the representativeness of the findings. I was only able to obtain eight participants for this study, and such a sample size may not capture the full range of experiences and perspectives of African American small business owners in the local area. This study also focused on a specific region, which may not fully reflect the experiences of African American-owned businesses in other locations. Intersectionality was another limitation of this study, as many participants did not discuss their socioeconomic background, education level, or specific gender-related issues. Therefore, such factors that can influence the experiences of racism may not be adequately accounted for in this research.

Recommendations

This study addressed a gap in understanding recent racism that African Americans have experienced in operating a small business. However, based on the findings, a larger sample size is recommended in order to encapsulate the full range of experiences and perspectives of African American small business owners. Future research should also include exploring intersectionality such as gender, age, or socioeconomic status in order to understand how these intersecting identities influence African American small business owners. A comparative analysis is also recommended for future research in order to compare experiences of African American business owners in different geographic locations or countries in order to identify potential variations in racism and its impact to inform region-specific solutions.

Implications for Positive Social Change

Raising awareness about the experiences of African American small business owners who face racism is crucial. By amplifying their stories and shedding light on the challenges they encounter, society can gain a deeper understanding of the systemic barriers they face. This awareness can lead to empathy and a collective commitment to addressing racial inequality. Supporting African American-owned businesses is another way to effect social change in order to recognize the importance of economic empowerment and the positive impact it can have on the community. Stakeholders can work towards creating a more equitable and inclusive entrepreneurial landscape, empowering African American small business owners and fostering economic growth for marginalized communities.

Conclusion

This qualitative transcendental phenomenological study involved eight African American participants in the local area operating a small business and their experiences of racism whilst doing so. The research contributes to the study of developmental psychology as it factors in the role of race in how individuals think, develop, and behave whilst challenging deep-rooted racism (Roberts et al., 2020). The findings of this study indicate that these business owners often experience significant barriers and challenges that impact their growth and success. Such experiences were found to have profound effects on participants' self-esteem and overall well-being. Participants in this study discussed significant barriers in accessing capital and financial resources that restrict their ability to invest in their enterprises, expand operations, and develop innovative ideas.

Consequently, it perpetuates a cycle of limited growth and economic inequality for African American business owners. This study underscores the importance of representation and inclusivity. Ultimately, this study also serves as a call to action, urging individuals, organizations, and society as a whole to confront and eradicate racism in the business world as well as society as whole.

References

- Adams, C., & van Manen, M. A. (2017). Teaching phenomenological research and writing. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(6), 780–791. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317698960
- Adejumo, V. (2021). Beyond diversity, inclusion, and belonging. *Leadership*, 17(1), 62–73. https://doi.org/10.1177/1742715020976202
- Bates, T., Farhat, J., & Casey, C. (2021). The economic development potential of minority-owned businesses. *Economic Development Quarterly*, 36(1), 43–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/08912424211032273
- Bento, A., & Brown, T. N. (2021). Belief in systemic racism and self-employment among working blacks. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 44(1), 21–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2020.1737170
- Blount, I. Y. (2020). How do large purchasing organizations treat their diverse suppliers?

 Minority business enterprise CEOs' perception of corporate commitment to supplier diversity. *Business & Society*, 60(7), 1708–1737.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650320936974
- Bohonos, J. W. (2021). Workplace hate speech and rendering Black and Native lives as if they do not matter: A nightmarish autoethnography. *Organization*, 30(4). https://doi.org/10.1177/13505084211015379
- Christian, M., Seamster, L., & Ray, V. (2019). New directions in critical race theory and sociology: Racism, white supremacy, and resistance. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 63(13), 1731–1740. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764219842623

- Christias, D. (2018). Sellars' naturalism, the myth of the given and Husserl's transcendental phenomenology. *Philosophical Forum*, 49(4), 511–539. https://doi.org/10.1111/phil.12204
- Clarke, K. (2021). Addressing systemic racial injustice in the United States from the war on poverty to social enterprise to Black Lives Matter. *Journal of Social Policy Studies*, 19(1), 143–154. https://doi.org/10.17323/727-0634-2021-19-1-143-154
- Crenshaw, K. (1995). Critical race theory: The key writings that formed the movement.

 New Press.
- Davis, J. P., Cramer, E. L., Streater, R. L., & Suter, M. R. (2021). Antitrust as antiracism:

 Antitrust as a partial cure for systemic racism (and other systemic "isms").

 Antitrust Bulletin, 66(3), 359–383. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003603x211023620
- DeCuir-Gunby, J. T., Johnson, O. T., Womble Edwards, C., McCoy, W. N., & White, A. M. (2020). African American professionals in higher education: Experiencing and coping with racial microaggressions. *Race, Ethnicity & Education*, 23(4), 492–508. https://doi.org/10.1080/13613324.2019.1579706
- Delgado, R., Stefancic, J., & Harris, A. (2017). *Critical race theory: an introduction* (3rd ed.). New York University Press.
- Dickens, D. D., Womack, V. Y., & Dimes, T. (2019). Managing hypervisibility: An exploration of theory and research on identity shifting strategies in the workplace among Black women. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 113, 153–163.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.10.008

- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Hall, E. V., Avery, D. R., McKay, P. F., Blot, J. F., & Edwards, M. (2019). Composition and compensation: The moderating effect of individual and team performance on the relationship between Black team member representation and salary. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(3), 448–463. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000378.supp
- Husserl, E. (1931). *Ideas: General introduction to pure phenomenology*. London: George Allen & Unwin.
- Jackson, T. M. (2021). We have to leverage those relationships: how Black women business owners respond to limited social capital. *Sociological Spectrum*, 41(2), 137–153. https://doi.org/10.1080/02732173.2020.1847706
- Kanbur, N., Katzman, D. K., Gray, N. J., Svetaz, M. V., Gaete, V., Di Meglio, G., & Christie, D. (2020). An international perspective on racism: Foster self-determination among youth and oppose systemic racism globally. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 67(6), 741–742.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.08.022
- Keeler, J. B., Goodman, M. B., Faught, K. S., & Whaley, K. D. (2020). Rethinking how to manage harassment and discrimination in the workplace. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology: Perspectives on Science and Practice*, 13(2), 219–224. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2020.40

- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Lanier, D. A., Toson, S. J., & Walley-Jean, J. C. (2022). Black Women Leaders: Going High in a World of Lows. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 24(3), 193–207. https://doi.org/10.1177/15234223221099664
- Mbilishaka, A. M. (2018). Black lives (and stories) matter: Race narrative therapy in black hair care spaces. *Community Psychology in Global Perspective*, 4(2), 22–33. https://doi.org/10.1285/i24212113v4i2p22
- McCoy, D. L., & Rodricks, D. J. (2015). Critical race theory. *ASHE Higher Education*Report, 41(3), 1–117. https://doi.org/10.1002/aehe.20021
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412995658
- Ozturk, M. B., & Berber, A. (2020). Racialised professionals' experiences of selective incivility in organisations: A multi-level analysis of subtle racism. *Human Relations*, 1. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0018726720957727
- Payne, B. K., & Hannay, J. W. (2021). Implicit bias reflects systemic racism. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 25(11), 927–936. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2021.08.001
- Randel, A. E., Galvin, B. M., Gibson, C. B., & Batts, S. I. (2021). Increasing career advancement opportunities through sponsorship: An identity-based model with illustrative application to cross-race mentorship of African Americans. *Group* &

- *Organization Management*, *46*(1), 105–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601120978003
- Roberts, S. O., Bareket-Shavit, C., Dollins, F. A., Goldie, P. D., & Mortenson, E. (2020).

 Racial inequality in psychological research: Trends of the past and recommendations for the future. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *15*(6), 1295–1309. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691620927709
- Roberts, S. O., & Rizzo, M. T. (2021). The psychology of American racism. *American Psychologist*, 76(3), 475–487. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000642
- Roberson, Q. (2023). Understanding racism in the workplace. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 108(2), 179–182. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0001079
- Sankofa, N. (2022). Participatory thick descriptions: A collaborative and reflective approach. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2022.2090469
- Shrikant, N., & Musselwhite, J. (2019). Indexing neoliberal ideology and political identities in a racially diverse business community. *Discourse & Communication*, 13(1), 119–137. https://doi.org/10.1177/1750481318801627
- Sisco, S. (2020). Race-conscious career development: Exploring self-preservation and coping strategies of Black professionals in corporate America. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 22(4), 419–436.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422320948885
- Skinner-Dorkenoo, A. L., Sarmal, A., Andre, C. J., & Rogbeer, K. G. (2021). How microaggressions reinforce and perpetuate systemic racism in the United States.

- Perspectives on Psychological Science, 16(5), 903–925. https://doi.org/10.1177/17456916211002543
- Spates, K., Evans, N., James, T. A., & Martinez, K. (2020). Gendered racism in the lives of Black women: A qualitative exploration. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 46(8), 583–606. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798420962257
- Taylor, H. L., Jr. (2018). Stores in the hood: Neighborhood-based business and community development in underdeveloped neighborhoods of color. *Journal of Urban History*, 44(5), 1025–1024. https://doi.org/10.1177/0096144218772286
- Thomas, V. G., Madison, A., Rockcliffe, F., DeLaine, K., & Lowe, S. M. (2018). Racism, social programming, and evaluation. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *39*(4), 514–526. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214018772910
- Whitaker, T. R. (2019). Banging on a locked door: The persistent role of racial discrimination in the workplace. *Social Work in Public Health*, *34*(1), 22–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2019.1572564

Appendix A: Flyer



Participants Needed For Research Study

Experiences of African Americans when operating a business



Appendix B: Interview Protocol

RQ-Qualitative: What are the lived experiences of racism for African Americans when operating a small business?

- 1. What is your current role and nature of your business?
- 2. Please tell me about a time where you have experienced racism in the workplace
- 3. Please describe specific experiences you have had that has conveyed any form of racism in operating a business
- 4. What steps do you take to eliminate any biases in the hiring process to maintain inclusion and diversity?
- 5. Please describe the support that you received with your business
- 6. Please describe the lack of support or negative feedback, if any, you have received with operating your business
- Please describe your experience with obstacles that you encountered in operating your small business
- 8. What skills and experiences, do you think, are important for African Americans in order to open and operate a small business?
- 9. What advice would you give to young African American entrepreneurs wanting to operate a business?